# **IAEA Safety Standards**

for protecting people and the environment

# Storage of Radioactive Waste

# Safety Guide No. WS-G-6.1





#### IAEA SAFETY RELATED PUBLICATIONS

#### IAEA SAFETY STANDARDS

Under the terms of Article III of its Statute, the IAEA is authorized to establish or adopt standards of safety for protection of health and minimization of danger to life and property, and to provide for the application of these standards.

The publications by means of which the IAEA establishes standards are issued in the **IAEA Safety Standards Series**. This series covers nuclear safety, radiation safety, transport safety and waste safety, and also general safety (i.e. all these areas of safety). The publication categories in the series are **Safety Fundamentals**, **Safety Requirements** and **Safety Guides**.

Safety standards are coded according to their coverage: nuclear safety (NS), radiation safety (RS), transport safety (TS), waste safety (WS) and general safety (GS).

Information on the IAEA's safety standards programme is available at the IAEA Internet site

#### http://www-ns.iaea.org/standards/

The site provides the texts in English of published and draft safety standards. The texts of safety standards issued in Arabic, Chinese, French, Russian and Spanish, the IAEA Safety Glossary and a status report for safety standards under development are also available. For further information, please contact the IAEA at P.O. Box 100, A-1400 Vienna, Austria.

All users of IAEA safety standards are invited to inform the IAEA of experience in their use (e.g. as a basis for national regulations, for safety reviews and for training courses) for the purpose of ensuring that they continue to meet users' needs. Information may be provided via the IAEA Internet site or by post, as above, or by email to Official.Mail@iaea.org.

#### OTHER SAFETY RELATED PUBLICATIONS

The IAEA provides for the application of the standards and, under the terms of Articles III and VIII.C of its Statute, makes available and fosters the exchange of information relating to peaceful nuclear activities and serves as an intermediary among its Member States for this purpose.

Reports on safety and protection in nuclear activities are issued as **Safety Reports**, which provide practical examples and detailed methods that can be used in support of the safety standards.

Other safety related IAEA publications are issued as **Radiological Assessment Reports**, the International Nuclear Safety Group's **INSAG Reports**, **Technical Reports** and **TECDOCs**. The IAEA also issues reports on radiological accidents, training manuals and practical manuals, and other special safety related publications. Security related publications are issued in the **IAEA Nuclear Security Series**.

### STORAGE OF RADIOACTIVE WASTE

The following States are Members of the International Atomic Energy Agency:

AFGHANISTAN ALBANIA ALGERIA ANGOLA ARGENTINA ARMENIA AUSTRALIA AUSTRIA AZERBAHAN BANGLADESH BELARUS BELGIUM BELIZE BENIN BOLIVIA BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA BOTSWANA BRAZIL BULGARIA BURKINA FASO CAMEROON CANADA CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC CHAD CHILE CHINA COLOMBIA COSTA RICA CÔTE D'IVOIRE CROATIA CUBA CYPRUS CZECH REPUBLIC DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF THE CONGO DENMARK DOMINICAN REPUBLIC ECUADOR EGYPT EL SALVADOR ERITREA **ESTONIA** ETHIOPIA FINLAND FRANCE GABON GEORGIA GERMANY GHANA

GREECE **GUATEMALA** HAITI HOLY SEE HONDURAS HUNGARY ICELAND INDIA INDONESIA IRAN, ISLAMIC REPUBLIC OF IR AO IRELAND ISRAEL ITALY JAMAICA JAPAN JORDAN KAZAKHSTAN KENYA KOREA, REPUBLIC OF KUWAIT KYRGYZSTAN LATVIA LEBANON LIBERIA LIBYAN ARAB JAMAHIRIYA LIECHTENSTEIN LITHUANIA LUXEMBOURG MADAGASCAR MALAWI MALAYSIA MALI MALTA MARSHALL ISLANDS MAURITANIA MAURITIUS MEXICO MONACO MONGOLIA MOROCCO MOZAMBIQUE MYANMAR NAMIBIA NETHERLANDS NEW ZEALAND NICARAGUA NIGER NIGERIA NORWAY

PAKISTAN PANAMA PARAGUAY PERU PHILIPPINES POLAND PORTUGAL OATAR REPUBLIC OF MOLDOVA ROMANIA RUSSIAN FEDERATION SAUDI ARABIA SENEGAL SERBIA SEYCHELLES SIERRA LEONE SINGAPORE **SLOVAKIA SLOVENIA** SOUTH AFRICA SPAIN SRI LANKA SUDAN SWEDEN SWITZERLAND SYRIAN ARAB REPUBLIC TAIIKISTAN THAILAND. THE FORMER YUGOSLAV REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA TUNISIA TURKEY UGANDA UKRAINE UNITED ARAB EMIRATES UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN AND NORTHERN IRELAND UNITED REPUBLIC OF TANZANIA UNITED STATES OF AMERICA URUGUAY UZBEKISTAN VENEZUELA VIETNAM YEMEN ZAMBIA ZIMBABWE

The Agency's Statute was approved on 23 October 1956 by the Conference on the Statute of the IAEA held at United Nations Headquarters, New York; it entered into force on 29 July 1957. The Headquarters of the Agency are situated in Vienna. Its principal objective is "to accelerate and enlarge the contribution of atomic energy to peace, health and prosperity throughout the world".

IAEA SAFETY STANDARDS SERIES No. WS-G-6.1

# STORAGE OF RADIOACTIVE WASTE

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY VIENNA, 2006

#### **COPYRIGHT NOTICE**

All IAEA scientific and technical publications are protected by the terms of the Universal Copyright Convention as adopted in 1952 (Berne) and as revised in 1972 (Paris). The copyright has since been extended by the World Intellectual Property Organization (Geneva) to include electronic and virtual intellectual property. Permission to use whole or parts of texts contained in IAEA publications in printed or electronic form must be obtained and is usually subject to royalty agreements. Proposals for non-commercial reproductions and translations are welcomed and considered on a case-by-case basis. Enquiries should be addressed to the IAEA Publishing Section at:

Sales and Promotion, Publishing Section International Atomic Energy Agency Wagramer Strasse 5 P.O. Box 100 1400 Vienna, Austria fax: +43 1 2600 29302 tel.: +43 1 2600 22417 email: sales.publications@iaea.org http://www.iaea.org/books

© IAEA, 2006

Printed by the IAEA in Austria November 2006 STI/PUB/1254

#### IAEA Library Cataloguing in Publication Data

Storage of radioactive waste : safety guide. — Vienna : International Atomic Energy Agency, 2006.
p. ; 24 cm. — (IAEA Safety standards series, ISSN 1020–525X ; no. WS-G-6.1)
STI/PUB/1254
ISBN 92–0–106706–2
Includes bibliographical references.

IAEAL

06-00437

#### FOREWORD

#### by Mohamed ElBaradei Director General

The IAEA's Statute authorizes the Agency to establish safety standards to protect health and minimize danger to life and property — standards which the IAEA must use in its own operations, and which a State can apply by means of its regulatory provisions for nuclear and radiation safety. A comprehensive body of safety standards under regular review, together with the IAEA's assistance in their application, has become a key element in a global safety regime.

In the mid-1990s, a major overhaul of the IAEA's safety standards programme was initiated, with a revised oversight committee structure and a systematic approach to updating the entire corpus of standards. The new standards that have resulted are of a high calibre and reflect best practices in Member States. With the assistance of the Commission on Safety Standards, the IAEA is working to promote the global acceptance and use of its safety standards.

Safety standards are only effective, however, if they are properly applied in practice. The IAEA's safety services — which range in scope from engineering safety, operational safety, and radiation, transport and waste safety to regulatory matters and safety culture in organizations — assist Member States in applying the standards and appraise their effectiveness. These safety services enable valuable insights to be shared and I continue to urge all Member States to make use of them.

Regulating nuclear and radiation safety is a national responsibility, and many Member States have decided to adopt the IAEA's safety standards for use in their national regulations. For the Contracting Parties to the various international safety conventions, IAEA standards provide a consistent, reliable means of ensuring the effective fulfilment of obligations under the conventions. The standards are also applied by designers, manufacturers and operators around the world to enhance nuclear and radiation safety in power generation, medicine, industry, agriculture, research and education.

The IAEA takes seriously the enduring challenge for users and regulators everywhere: that of ensuring a high level of safety in the use of nuclear materials and radiation sources around the world. Their continuing utilization for the benefit of humankind must be managed in a safe manner, and the IAEA safety standards are designed to facilitate the achievement of that goal.

### **CONTENTS**

1.	INTRODUCTION	1
	Background (1.1–1.6). Objective (1.7) Scope (1.8–1.12) Structure (1.13).	1 2 3 4
2.	PROTECTION OF HUMAN HEALTH AND THE ENVIRONMENT	4
3.	ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES	5
	General (3.1–3.3) Responsibilities of the government (3.4–3.5) Responsibilities of the regulatory body (3.6–3.10) Responsibilities of operators (3.11–3.20) Management system (3.21–3.22)	5 6 6 7 9
4.	COMMON SAFETY CONSIDERATIONS FOR WASTE STORAGE FACILITIES (4.1–4.19)	10
5.	DESIGN AND OPERATION OF SMALL STORAGE FACILITIES FOR RADIOACTIVE WASTE	13
	General (5.1–5.9) Decay storage (5.10–5.13) Emergency preparedness (5.14) Waste packaging (5.15–5.18) Design of small storage facilities for radioactive waste (5.19–5.30) Operation of small storage facilities for radioactive waste (5.31–5.38)	13 15 15 16 16 19
6.	DESIGN AND OPERATION OF LARGE STORAGE FACILITIES FOR RADIOACTIVE WASTE	21
	General (6.1–6.3) Emergency preparedness (6.4) Development of safety documentation (6.5)	21 22 22

Characterization and acceptance criteria	
for radioactive waste (6.6–6.9)	. 23
Waste form and waste packages (6.10–6.20)	. 23
Design of storage facilities for radioactive waste (6.21–6.62)	. 26
Commissioning of storage facilities	
for radioactive waste (6.63–6.64)	. 34
Operation of storage facilities for radioactive waste (6.65–6.83)	. 35
Decommisssioning of storage facilities	
for radioactive waste (6.84–6.85)	. 39
Long term storage of radioactive waste (6.86–6.90)	. 39
APPENDIX: SAFETY ASSESSMENT OF FACILITIES	
FOR THE STORAGE OF RADIOACTIVE WASTE	. 41
REFERENCES	. 47
CONTRIBUTORS TO DRAFTING AND REVIEW	. 51
BODIES FOR THE ENDORSEMENT OF IAEA	
SAFETY STANDARDS	. 53

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

#### BACKGROUND

1.1. Radioactive waste is generated in a broad range of activities involving a wide variety of radioactive materials associated with, for example, the operation of nuclear facilities, the use of sealed radioactive sources in industry, the use of human made radionuclides in hospitals and laboratories, and the decommissioning of such facilities. The physical, chemical and radiological characteristics of the waste arising from these activities differ widely.

1.2. The principles and requirements for the safe management of radioactive waste for the protection of human health and the environment are established in the IAEA safety standards: The Fundamental Safety Principles [1], Legal and Governmental Infrastructure for Nuclear, Radiation, Radioactive Waste and Transport Safety [2], Predisposal Management of Radioactive Waste, Including Decommissioning [3] and the International Basic Safety Standards for Protection against Ionizing Radiation and for the Safety of Radiation Sources (BSS) [4]. Recommendations on the application of these principles through the fulfilment of these requirements as they pertain to radioactive waste storage are provided in this Safety Guide and several associated Safety Guides [5–7].

1.3. Following its generation, untreated radioactive waste may be subject to a number of waste management processes prior to its disposal such as handling, treatment and conditioning. During these processing steps, radioactive waste may be subject to storage at a number of stages. Hence, radioactive waste will be stored in processed and unprocessed forms and for varying periods of time.

1.4. There are many reasons why it may be appropriate to store radioactive waste for varying periods of time. Examples include the following:

- (a) To allow for the decay of short lived radionuclides to a level at which the radioactive waste can be released from regulatory control (clearance) or authorized for discharge, or recycling and reuse;
- (b) To collect and accumulate a sufficient amount of radioactive waste prior to its transfer to another facility for treatment and conditioning;
- (c) To collect and accumulate a sufficient amount of radioactive waste prior to its disposal;

- (d) To reduce the heat generation rate of high level radioactive waste prior to its disposal and, in some cases, prior to steps in its predisposal management;
- (e) To provide long term storage of radioactive waste in those States lacking a suitable disposal facility.

Examples (a), (b) and (c) are usually encountered at small storage facilities for radioactive waste, where storage is incidental to the primary purpose of the facility. Examples (d) and (e) are usually associated with larger facilities undertaking the treatment and storage of waste from nuclear fuel cycle facilities and from centralized facilities at which the waste from many small users of radioactive sources is collected and processed.

1.5. The period of storage may be highly variable and may be only a few days, weeks or months in the case of storage for decay or storage prior to the transfer of waste to another facility. Extended storage periods of many years may be necessary in the case of the storage of high level waste for cooling or for the long term storage of radioactive waste for which there is no disposal option yet available.

1.6. The storage facility may be located at the facility generating the waste, such as a nuclear power plant, a hospital or a laboratory, or it may comprise a separate entity such as a centralized facility or a national treatment and storage facility. Storage facilities can range from secure cabinets and closets at laboratories up to large facilities built for serving a nuclear power plant.

#### OBJECTIVE

1.7. The objective of this Safety Guide is to provide regulatory bodies and the operators that generate and manage radioactive waste with recommendations on how to meet the safety requirements established in Ref. [3] for the safe storage of radioactive waste. The guidance provided is applicable to all storage facilities, although there are separate sections for small and large storage facilities. The storage of radioactive waste means the holding of radioactive waste in a facility that provides for its containment, with the intention of retrieval.

#### SCOPE

1.8. This Safety Guide applies to the storage of solid, liquid and gaseous radioactive wastes in a wide range of facilities, including those at which waste is generated, treated and conditioned. The storage facility could range from a secure cupboard or closet in a laboratory, through to larger designated areas such as rooms or buildings, up to and including a large site dedicated to the storage of radioactive waste.

- 1.9. This Safety Guide does not address:
- (a) The storage of waste arising from the mining and processing of uranium and thorium ores and minerals;
- (b) The storage of other waste containing elevated concentrations of naturally occurring radionuclides and waste from mineral processing activities;
- (c) The wet or dry storage of spent nuclear fuel, which is addressed in Refs [6, 8–10].

1.10. A wide variety of waste types and storage needs may be encountered in practice, for example, in terms of the storage duration, radioactive inventory, radionuclide half-lives and associated radiological hazards. The guidance given is therefore expected to be applied in accordance with the specific safety requirements appropriate to each storage situation. In a graded approach to the application of the safety requirements [11, 12], the implementation of safety measures should be commensurate with the nature and level of the hazard associated with the waste types and the radionuclide inventory. The regulatory body should provide guidance on the extent to which the various aspects of this Safety Guide are relevant and appropriate for a particular storage facility.

1.11. This Safety Guide is intended to apply to new facilities but it may also be applied to existing facilities. Dependent on the relative risk, a safety review of existing facilities should be conducted to determine whether steps to improve their safety may be required.

1.12. There may be significant non-radiological hazards associated with the storage of radioactive waste. Limited guidance is given in this Safety Guide on measures to be taken in this regard. If non-radiological properties such as corrosiveness, flammability, explosiveness, toxicity and pathogenicity may affect the safe management of the radiological hazard, then these should be

taken into consideration during the safety assessment. Guidance in respect of non-radiological hazards should be sought from the relevant regulatory body in the areas of industrial health and safety and environmental protection.

#### STRUCTURE

1.13. This Safety Guide provides guidance that is specific to small and to large storage facilities and guidance that is common to both small and large facilities. Sections 2 and 3 address, respectively, the protection of human health and the environment, and roles and responsibilities. Section 4 outlines general safety considerations in the storage of radioactive waste that are common to both small and large storage facilities. Sections 5 and 6 provide guidance on safety in the design and operation of small and large storage facilities, respectively. Information on safety assessment as applied to the storage of radioactive waste is provided in the Appendix.

### 2. PROTECTION OF HUMAN HEALTH AND THE ENVIRONMENT

2.1. Requirements for radiation protection are established in the BSS [4]. In particular, the radiation protection of any persons who are exposed as a consequence of the storage of radioactive waste is required to be optimized (see paras 2.24 and 2.25 of the BSS [4]), with due regard to dose constraints, and the exposures of individuals are required to be kept within the specified dose limits.

2.2. The storage of radioactive waste must ensure that both human health and the environment will be protected, both now and in the future, without imposing undue burdens on future generations [1]. The safety requirements established in Section 2 of Ref. [3] relating to the protection of human health and the environment are applicable to the storage of radioactive waste.

2.3. In the design and operation of storage facilities for radioactive waste, it is required to provide for the protection of workers, the public and the environment in accordance with the requirements and principles of Refs [1, 4], such that:

- (a) Radiation doses to workers and the public as a consequence of waste storage activities do not exceed the relevant limits established in the BSS;
- (b) Storage facilities are designed and operated in such a way that the radiation protection of workers and the public is optimized in accordance with the requirements of the BSS;
- (c) The consequences of any foreseeable fault or accident condition would be such that protective actions are optimized as required by the BSS.

2.4. Discharges to the environment from storage facilities should be controlled in accordance with the guidance provided in Ref. [13] and any facility specific conditions imposed by the regulatory body.

2.5. The adequacy of control measures taken to limit the exposure of workers should be verified by means of individual monitoring and area monitoring.

2.6. In the generation and storage of waste, as well as subsequent management steps, a safety culture should be fostered and maintained to encourage a questioning and learning attitude to protection and safety and to discourage complacency [4, 14].

### **3. ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES**

#### GENERAL

3.1. Storage of waste should be undertaken within an appropriate national legal framework that provides for a clear allocation of responsibilities [2] and ensures the effective regulatory control of facilities and activities [3]. The national legal framework should also ensure the fulfilment of other relevant national and international obligations. Requirements for establishing a national framework and the responsibilities of the regulatory body for ensuring safety, including the safety of the storage of radioactive waste, are established in Ref. [2]. International obligations, as applicable, are established in the Joint Convention on the Safety of Spent Fuel Management and on the Safety of Radioactive Waste Management [15].

3.2. The management of radioactive waste may entail the transfer of waste from one operator to another. The legal framework should include provisions to ensure a clear allocation of responsibility for safety throughout the entire process of predisposal management, in particular with respect to storage, and including any transfer between operators. The continuity of responsibility for safety should be ensured by means of authorization by the regulatory body. For transfers between States, authorizations from each of the national regulatory bodies concerned should be obtained.

3.3. The regulatory and operational responsibilities for radioactive waste management should be clearly specified and functionally separated. A single organization should not be given both the operational and the regulatory responsibility for waste management.

#### RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE GOVERNMENT

3.4. The government is responsible for setting national policies and strategies for the management of radioactive waste and for providing the legal framework required to implement these policies and strategies. The policies and strategies for waste management should address the types of storage facility that are appropriate for the national waste inventory.

3.5. The government should consult interested parties (i.e. those involved in or affected by waste management activities) on matters relating to the development of policies and strategies that affect the safety of large storage facilities for radioactive waste.

#### RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE REGULATORY BODY

3.6. The regulatory body should provide guidance to operators on requirements relating to the storage of radioactive waste and the clearance of material (i.e. removal from any further regulatory control). Responsibilities may include contributing to the technical input for defining policies, safety principles and associated criteria and establishing regulations or conditions to serve as the basis of its regulatory actions (see Ref. [3], paras 3.1 and 3.2). In fulfilling its obligations, the regulatory body should fulfil the relevant functions that are established in Ref. [2].

3.7. Given the wide range of potential hazards, depending on the nature of the facility, a graded regulatory approach should be adopted that is commensurate with the level of hazard. Authorization in the form of registration may be sufficient for many small storage operations; the authorization of a small storage facility should be covered by the authorization for the facility in which radiation sources are used. For large storage facilities, licensing will probably be necessary to ensure the required level of control.

3.8. General recommendations on the review and assessment of the safety of nuclear facilities, including facilities for the storage of radioactive waste, by the regulatory body are provided in Ref. [16]. Recommendations on the documentation for the regulatory process for nuclear facilities are provided in Ref. [17]. Guidance concerning the elements of the national regulatory infrastructure that is necessary to achieve an appropriate level of protection and safety for radiation sources used in medicine, industry, agriculture, research and education is provided in Ref. [18].

3.9. Since waste may be stored for extended periods of time prior to its disposal, the regulatory body should confirm that the operator is providing the necessary human, technical and financial resources for the lifetime of the storage facility, to the extent that such confirmation is within its statutory obligations.

3.10. The regulatory body should periodically verify the acceptability of key aspects of the storage operation, such as the keeping of records, inventories and material transfer records; compliance with package acceptance criteria for storage; maintenance of the facility; and surveillance and monitoring. This may be carried out, for example, by routine inspections of the storage facility and formal audits of the operator's documentation. The regulatory body should confirm that the necessary records are prepared and that they are maintained for an appropriate period of time. A list of such records is included in Ref. [17].

#### **RESPONSIBILITIES OF OPERATORS**

3.11. The operator is responsible for the safety of all activities in the storage of radioactive waste and for the implementation of the programmes and procedures necessary to ensure safety. In accordance with the graded approach, the programmes and procedures necessary to ensure safety will generally be less extensive for the operator of a small facility.

3.12. The responsibilities of the operator of a large storage facility for radioactive waste would typically include:

- (a) Making an application to the regulatory body to site, construct, operate, modify or decommission a waste storage facility;
- (b) Conducting appropriate environmental assessments and safety assessments to support the application for a licence;
- (c) Operating the facility in accordance with the licence conditions and the applicable regulations;
- (d) Developing and applying acceptance criteria for the storage of radioactive waste;
- (e) Providing periodic reports to the regulatory body in relation to the safety of the facility (e.g. on the current inventory and the estimated future inventory and waste transfers into and out of the facility).

Not all of the items listed here may apply to small operators. For example, a small operator may not be expected to go through a siting process.

3.13. Prior to the authorization of a facility for the storage of radioactive waste, the operator should provide the regulatory body with plans for the long term management of the radioactive waste being stored. The public, especially communities located near the storage facility, should be informed of these plans.

3.14. The operator should demonstrate the safety of the facility by means of a safety assessment that is commensurate with the hazards envisaged. For smaller and simpler facilities, the regulatory body may set generic inventory limits instead of requiring a full safety assessment. Guidance on preparing the safety assessment for facilities for the predisposal management of radioactive waste is provided in Refs [5–7]. Further information on safety assessment for the storage of radioactive waste is provided in the Appendix.

3.15. The operator of a storage facility for radioactive waste should use the safety assessment to propose facility specific operational limits and conditions. The operator may wish to set an administrative margin below the operational limits approved by the regulatory body as an operational target to remain within the approved operational limits and conditions.

3.16. The operator should determine the maximum quantities and concentrations of the radioactive materials or other hazardous materials that

may be safely discharged to the environment and should document such discharges.

3.17. At an early stage in the lifetime of a waste storage facility, the operator of the facility should prepare plans for its eventual decommissioning. For new facilities, decommissioning should be taken into consideration at the design stage. Guidance on decommissioning is provided in Refs [19, 20].

3.18. The operator of a large storage facility for radioactive waste should carry out pre-operational tests and commissioning tests to demonstrate compliance with the safety requirements established by the regulatory body.

3.19. As appropriate to the hazards associated with the waste storage facility, the operator of the facility should prepare plans and implement programmes for personnel monitoring, area monitoring and environmental monitoring, and for emergency preparedness and response.

3.20. The operator of a waste storage facility should put in place appropriate mechanisms to ensure that sufficient financial resources are available to undertake all necessary tasks throughout the lifetime of the storage facility, including its decommissioning [2].

#### MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

3.21. A management system should be established, implemented, assessed and continually improved [11] by the operator and should be applied to all those stages of the storage of radioactive waste that have a bearing on safety. It should be aligned with the goals of the organization and should contribute to their achievement. The scope of the management system should include the siting, design, operation and maintenance of a storage facility for radioactive waste. The management system should be designed to ensure that the safety of the stored waste and that of the facility itself is maintained and that the quality of the records and of subsidiary information such as the marking and labelling of waste packages is preserved. A management system should also contain provision to ensure that the achievement of its goals can be demonstrated.

3.22. The management system should be applied to the processing of waste to ensure that all waste acceptance requirements are fulfilled for storage, and for disposal to the extent possible. General guidance on management systems for

each stage in the lifetime of a storage facility for radioactive waste is provided in Ref. [11].

### 4. COMMON SAFETY CONSIDERATIONS FOR WASTE STORAGE FACILITIES

4.1. A storage facility for radioactive waste should be designed and operated to ensure that the radiation protection of workers and the public is optimized as required by the BSS and to ensure the containment and facilitate the retrieval of the waste.

4.2. To the extent practicable, radioactive waste should be stored according to recommendations for passive safety, including the following:

- (a) The radioactive material should be immobile;
- (b) The waste form and its container should be physically and chemically stable;
- (c) Energy should be removed from the waste form;
- (d) A multibarrier approach should be adopted in ensuring containment;
- (e) The waste form and its container should be resistant to degradation;
- (f) The waste storage environment should optimize the lifetime of the waste package;
- (g) The need for active safety systems to ensure safety should be minimized;
- (h) The need for monitoring and maintenance to ensure safety should be minimized;
- (i) The need for human intervention to ensure safety should be minimized;
- (j) The waste storage building should be resistant to foreseeable hazards;
- (k) Access to the waste storage building should be provided for response to incidents;
- (l) There should be no need for prompt corrective action in the event of an incident;
- (m) The waste packages should be able to be inspected;
- (n) The waste packages should be retrievable for inspection or reworking;
- (o) The lifetime of the waste storage building should be appropriate for the storage period prior to disposal of the waste;
- (p) The waste storage facility should enable the retrieval of waste;
- (q) The waste package should be acceptable for final disposal of the waste.

4.3. For the storage of radioactive waste, a variety of records should be compiled, managed and maintained in accordance with a management system (see paras 3.21, 3.22). The scope and detail of the records will depend on the hazard associated with the facility and on the complexity of the operations and activities.

4.4. The scope and detail of the safety documentation should be appropriate to the hazards, the radioactive inventory and the characteristics of the waste. As applicable, para. 6.5 provides guidance on the content of safety documentation.

4.5. A safety assessment comprises an evaluation of the aspects of design and operation of a storage facility for radioactive waste to ensure the protection of workers and the public and the protection of the environment under normal conditions and in accident situations. The safety assessment should be periodically re-evaluated and, if necessary, revised to reflect changes in conditions, facilities or procedures.

4.6. Waste storage should be planned for on the basis of documented information (i.e. waste forecasts) on the quantities and types of waste that could be generated.

4.7. Storage facilities and waste packages should provide for the safe storage of waste by taking account of the waste form (i.e. solid, liquid or gas), its radionuclide content and half-lives, its activity concentrations, the total radioactive inventory, its non-radiological characteristics and the expected duration of storage. The design features and facility operations should be such as to ensure that the waste can be received, handled, stored and retrieved without undue occupational and public radiation exposure or environmental impact.

4.8. Waste storage facilities should be designed and operated to minimize the probability and consequences of incidents and accidents.

4.9. Non-radiological hazards due to physical, chemical and pathogenic characteristics of waste should also be considered in the design and operation of storage facilities, as interactions of wastes may have consequences for human health and the environment. Such interactions could include generation of noxious gases by biological processes and generation of corrosive substances by chemical processes.

4.10. In the design of a waste storage facility, the focus should be on the containment of the waste; for example, on the integrity of the facility's structures and equipment, as well as the integrity of the waste forms and containers over the expected duration of storage. Consideration should be given to interactions between the waste, the containers and their environment (e.g. corrosion processes due to chemical or galvanic reactions). For certain types of waste (e.g. corrosive liquid waste) special precautions should be taken, such as the use of double walled containers, bunding and impervious liners.

4.11. A tracking system for waste packages should be developed and implemented. The system should provide for the identification of waste packages and their locations and an inventory of waste stored. The sophistication of the waste tracking system required (e.g. including labelling and bar coding) will depend on the number of waste packages, the anticipated duration of storage of the waste and the hazard associated with it.

4.12. Security and access controls are required at storage facilities for radioactive waste to prevent the unauthorized access of individuals and the unauthorized removal of radioactive material. The level of security and access control required at a waste storage facility should be commensurate with the radiological hazards and the nature of the waste.

4.13. Training and qualification needs for staff will vary depending on the size of the facility, the radioactive inventory, the complexity and range of the activities conducted and the associated hazards. The operator should ensure that all staff understand the nature of the waste, its associated hazards and the relevant operating and safety procedures. Supervisory staff should be competent to perform their duties and should therefore be selected, trained, qualified and authorized for the purpose. Where appropriate, a radiation protection officer should be appointed to oversee the application of the requirements for safety and radiation protection.

4.14. Operating personnel should be trained to respond appropriately to deviations from normal operational conditions (i.e. emergency and accident conditions).

4.15. Sound operational practices and administrative controls appropriate to the level of hazard should be applied in the operation of a storage facility for radioactive waste. The operator of a large storage facility for radioactive waste should clearly establish and document the duties and responsibilities of all positions in the organizational structure.

4.16. Radioactive waste should be stored in a segregated manner such that it can be retrieved for further treatment, transfer to another storage facility or disposal. Segregation of the waste may also reduce the exposure of workers in normal operations and may limit the severity of any consequences under accident conditions. Radioactive waste should be stored separately from non-radioactive waste to avoid cross-contamination and accidental removal from control. Requirements are established and further guidance on the segregation of radioactive waste is provided in Refs [3, 5, 6].

4.17. The need for and the extent of commissioning activities and tests will vary depending on the size, complexity and contents of the storage facility. Commissioning involves a logical progression of tasks and tests to demonstrate the correct functioning of specific equipment and features incorporated into the design of the storage facility to provide for safe storage. The adequacy of the facility's design and of the operational procedures and the readiness of the staff to operate the facility should be demonstrated and confirmed.

4.18. Disused sealed sources should be segregated and stored separately because of their high hazard potential. Although they may not have been declared as waste, disused sealed sources awaiting reuse or recycle are commonly placed in storage facilities for radioactive waste. The safety and security of disused sources are discussed in Refs [21, 22].

4.19. Disused sealed sources may require conditioning or encapsulation before placement in a storage facility [23]. Conditioning methods should be subject to approval by the regulatory body. Disused sealed sources that are kept in storage for extended periods of time should be checked for leakage at regular intervals.

### 5. DESIGN AND OPERATION OF SMALL STORAGE FACILITIES FOR RADIOACTIVE WASTE

GENERAL

5.1. Small inventories of radioactive waste comprising radionuclides with relatively short half-lives are typically handled at small waste storage facilities. Simple waste treatment activities such as low force compaction may also be

carried out at small waste storage facilities. In addition, sealed sources of various types may be handled at small waste storage facilities.

5.2. Some types of radioactive waste may be stored for periods specifically to allow the radioactivity of the waste to decay to levels that permit its authorized discharge or removal from regulatory control (i.e. clearance). Storage may also be necessary for operational reasons, for example, to accommodate the off-site transfer of waste to a waste treatment facility at specified time intervals.

5.3. The storage of waste in centralized facilities rather than in a multitude of on-site facilities should be considered, since there will be opportunities to adopt more stringent safety standards and at the same time to realize economies of scale.

5.4. For most small waste storage facilities, simple design features together with correspondingly simple operating procedures will be appropriate.

5.5. The stored radioactive waste should be characterized (e.g. by radionuclide type, inventory, activity concentration, half-life and the physical, chemical and pathogenic properties of the waste) and the results should be documented in an inventory log. If pathogenic radioactive waste is to be stored, it should be deactivated before its placement in storage [24].

5.6. All waste packages and their documentation should be identified with a unique code for the purposes of tracking. In most cases a simple indelible weather resistant tag and logbook will be sufficient.

5.7. Where biomedical radioactive waste is produced in large volumes, it should be considered whether a separate storage area for biomedical radioactive waste is necessary.

5.8. Waste that is to be shipped to a centralized waste management facility should be packaged in accordance with the waste acceptance criteria of the receiving facility.

5.9. Radioactive waste should be packaged in such a manner that it is not accessible to pests such as insects or rodents as they can present a serious threat to its containment. This is particularly relevant for the storage of biohazardous radioactive waste or where waste may be stored in plastic bags.

#### DECAY STORAGE

5.10. Storage for decay is particularly important for the clearance of radioactive waste containing short lived radioisotopes. Clearance is the removal of radioactive material from regulatory control provided that the radionuclide concentrations are below radionuclide specific clearance levels. Practical experience shows that storage for decay is suitable for waste contaminated by radionuclides with a half-life of less than about 100 d. For example, radioactive waste from nuclear medicine, such as excreta containing <sup>99m</sup>Tc (half-life about 6 h), may be stored for decay and subsequent discharge.

5.11. The decay storage period should be long enough to reduce the initial activity to levels lower than the clearance levels. Generic clearance levels and guidance for the derivation of clearance levels are provided in Refs [25, 26].

5.12. There should be rigorous control measures for the storage of radioactive waste for decay and its subsequent removal from regulatory control. The activity concentration of the waste should be carefully determined and such waste designated for decay should be segregated from other waste, from the point of generation up to the end of the decay storage period and its final disposal. Representative measurements should be carried out on samples taken and analysed prior to the removal of each batch from control. In taking samples, workers should be protected against both radiological and non-radiological hazards.

5.13. While storage for decay is also the preferred option for biohazardous radioactive waste and for other perishable waste such as animal carcasses, such wastes should be segregated and stored in a freezer or refrigerator cabinet for decay storage. Decayed biohazardous radioactive waste should not be disposed of in a landfill site unless specific approval has been obtained from the regulatory body. Incineration of such waste is usually the preferred option; further guidance should be sought from the relevant competent body concerning the conditions under which such waste can safely be incinerated.

#### EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS

5.14. Emergency preparedness and response arrangements commensurate with the threat category of the facility, as required in Ref. [27], should be developed and implemented. The emergency plan should include: the training of staff to be competent to recognize and react to an accident or emergency, the

assignment of responsibilities and the making of appropriate arrangements and provision of equipment to ensure the protection of emergency workers. For example, the planning for a small facility may include planning the appropriate preparedness and response to simple events such as a spill in a laboratory, the loss of a source or a fire. Requirements are established and further guidance is provided in relation to emergency preparedness and response in Ref. [27].

#### WASTE PACKAGING

5.15. Consideration should be given to the loads resulting from the stacking of waste packages. The wall thickness of the containers, their filled weight and the stacking orientation should be taken into account at the design stage. For a small facility, the use of suitable shelving should be considered.

5.16. Dispersible waste such as liquids, gases and powders should be monitored owing to their potential for leakage. The storage arrangements should facilitate monitoring and confinement so as to allow any failure of the confinement barrier to be detected. Containers of dispersible waste, in particular liquids, should be stored within an appropriately sized confinement barrier to provide secondary containment owing to the possibility of leaks or other accidental releases.

5.17. If the container shows signs of degradation during storage, then appropriate measures should be taken, which may include examination to confirm the integrity of the container and that of similar containers. In the event of a leak, provisions should be made for overpacking or repackaging.

5.18. Sharp objects such as syringes should be collected separately and stored in puncture resistant containers.

# DESIGN OF SMALL STORAGE FACILITIES FOR RADIOACTIVE WASTE

#### Considerations of facility selection and design

5.19. A small waste 'storage facility' (e.g. at laboratories, hospitals and universities) may be simply a secure cabinet, a dedicated area, a room, a small building or an International Organization for Standardization shipping

container.<sup>1</sup> The design will depend largely upon the properties, the total inventory and the hazard potential of the stored material. Design features should last for the expected lifetime of the facility.

5.20. Criteria that should be considered when selecting a storage facility include the following:

- (a) The area outside the waste storage facility should have a low public occupancy factor and should be a low traffic area.
- (b) The location should provide for an appropriate level of physical security (e.g. single point entry, no windows, robust construction).
- (c) The location should be remote from other hazardous storage areas (e.g. stores for explosive and flammable materials) and should not be liable to flooding.
- (d) The location should be suitable for the safe transfer of material into and out of the facility (e.g. there should be an adequate loading and unloading area outside the facility).

5.21. The storage facility, area or cabinet should be designed with account taken of its possible future uses after decommissioning (e.g. by the use of smooth, non-porous surfaces; plastic liners; equipment that is simple to dismantle).

5.22. The design of the storage facility should facilitate the retrievability of the waste and the inspection of the facility and the equipment and waste stored in the facility.

5.23. In the design of small waste storage facilities, both normal and abnormal operational conditions should be considered (e.g. spills, the consequences of dropping a package, the spread of contamination).

5.24. The waste package provides the primary containment for the stored radioactive waste. However, the storage facility should be designed to provide additional containment if this is required (e.g. for shielding, security, ventilation or filtration and drainage systems, or bunds).

 $<sup>^1</sup>$  In this section, the term 'design' as applied to a small waste storage facility means either the development of a new facility or the selection of an existing facility for the storage of waste.

5.25. The storage facility should provide for an appropriate level of protection of the waste from the weather and from adverse environmental conditions to avoid degradation that could have implications for safety during storage or upon retrieval.

#### Shielding

5.26. The degree of shielding and the sophistication of its design, if shielding is required, will depend on the radiological hazards associated with the stored waste. Shielding devices can range from simple lead pots and source containers in secure cabinets and closets to specially constructed walls and pits that form part of the structure of the waste storage facility.

5.27. Where appropriate, maximum allowable radiation dose rates should be specified for the external surfaces of waste packages, shielding surfaces and the exterior surfaces of the waste storage facility. The shielding requirements should be set to ensure that the gamma radiation levels on the exterior surfaces of the facility are appropriate for public areas.

#### Ventilation

5.28. A small storage facility for radioactive waste may not require a ventilation system, although the need for a ventilation system should be assessed on a case by case basis. Factors to be considered include: the potential for the radioactive waste to give rise to airborne radioactive material that creates a radiological hazard (e.g. the buildup of <sup>222</sup>Rn from <sup>226</sup>Ra waste), the potential for the localized accumulation of flammable and explosive gases (such as hydrogen formed by radiolysis or in chemical reactions) and the need to control environmental conditions (e.g. humidity, temperature), both for the comfort of operators and for maintaining the integrity of packages. The design of ventilation systems may require provision for filtration to prevent the uncontrolled release of radionuclides in gaseous or particulate form to the environment.

#### **Fire protection systems**

5.29. It is unlikely that a small storage facility for radioactive waste would require fire protection beyond that which is required to satisfy local fire codes. In the absence of a local fire code, the need for a fire protection system (e.g. smoke detectors, fire extinguishers, sprinklers) of appropriate capacity

and capability should be determined. The primary design goal should be the early detection and suppression of fires.

#### Commissioning

5.30. Owing to the limited inventory and low risks associated with most small storage facilities for radioactive waste, a formal commissioning process would not be required.

# OPERATION OF SMALL STORAGE FACILITIES FOR RADIOACTIVE WASTE

#### General operational considerations

5.31. The operational activities of a small storage facility for radioactive waste should be described in and carried out in accordance with facility specific procedures. The operational activities may include: receipt, storage and retrieval of waste; labelling of waste packages; inventory control; package inspection; radiation protection; monitoring and surveillance; record keeping; and preparation of waste packages for dispatch to another facility. The scope and level of detail of the procedures should be commensurate with the radioactive inventory, the associated hazards and the extent of the storage activities. The procedures should be such as to ensure compliance with the operational limits and conditions approved by the regulatory body.

#### **Radiation monitoring**

5.32. Radiation monitoring should be conducted routinely to determine the external radiation levels and surface contamination levels inside the waste storage facility, along the boundaries of the storage facility and on the surface of waste packages. In facilities where loose waste is compacted and repackaged for storage or transport, monitoring for airborne contamination may be appropriate.

5.33. In storage facilities where there is a potential for surface contamination, fixed or portable instruments for detecting external contamination on workers should be provided at exit points from the area.

5.34. Monitoring instruments should be periodically tested and calibrated. The energy response and the measurement range of the instruments should be

appropriate for the radionuclide composition of the waste and the expected ranges of radiation levels and contamination levels.

#### **Radiation protection**

5.35. A radiation protection programme should be developed as part of the application to the regulatory body for authorization. Information on the content of radiation protection programmes is provided in Refs [28, 29].

#### Maintenance, testing and inspection

5.36. The operation of most small storage facilities for radioactive waste will require only a very simple and limited programme of periodic maintenance, testing and inspection (this could be as simple as checking the effectiveness of the locks at the facility). The maintenance, testing and inspection records should be subject to periodic review.

#### Security

5.37. Owing to the limited waste inventory and low hazard levels encountered in most small storage facilities for radioactive waste, the measures for security and access control may consist simply of a locked door or cabinet (e.g. a locked storage area with authorized key holders and an access log). However, security for disused sealed sources of high activity may require additional consideration. Security and access controls specific for disused sources in storage are discussed in Ref. [22].

#### Decommissioning

5.38. Decommissioning involves the removal of all stored waste, followed by a survey to determine the residual surface contamination levels and external radiation levels. The facility may require decontamination and the removal of contaminated materials and equipment. Guidance on the decommissioning of small facilities is given in Ref. [20].

### 6. DESIGN AND OPERATION OF LARGE STORAGE FACILITIES FOR RADIOACTIVE WASTE

#### GENERAL

6.1. A large storage facility for radioactive waste may receive a wide variety of waste types from a number of different origins. The design and operation of a large waste storage facility should be commensurate with the potential hazards associated with it.

6.2. A tracking system for waste packages should be developed and maintained. For large waste storage facilities, the use of a computerized system for tracking packages should be considered. A storage plan that shows the configuration of the emplaced waste packages, including the zoning for the level of hazards, should be prepared and maintained.

6.3. Procedures should be developed for the safe operation of a large waste storage facility. The extent and the degree of detail of specific procedures should be commensurate with the safety significance of the particular subject of the procedures and should cover, where applicable:

- (a) Operations, including all necessary limits and conditions;
- (b) Commissioning;
- (c) The management system;
- (d) Maintenance, inspection and testing;
- (e) Training;
- (f) Modifications made during design, construction, commissioning and operation;
- (g) Recording, reporting and investigation of events;
- (h) Radiation protection and safety performance;
- (i) Contingency and emergency arrangements;
- (j) Safeguards;
- (k) Security measures;
- (1) Control of radioactive discharges to the environment;
- (m) Acceptance criteria for waste packages.

#### EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS

6.4. A threat assessment should be conducted of possible emergencies, as described in Ref. [27], and emergency preparedness arrangements should be put in place that are consistent with the international standards [27] for the threat category established in the threat assessment. Arrangements could include the development of scenarios of anticipated sequences of events and the establishment of procedures to deal with each of the scenarios, including checklists and lists of persons and organizations to be alerted. Emergency response procedures should be kept up to date. The need for training exercises should be assessed. If there is such a need, exercises should be held periodically to test the emergency response plan and the degree of preparedness of personnel. Inspections should be performed regularly to ascertain whether the equipment and other resources needed in the event of an emergency are available and in working order.

#### DEVELOPMENT OF SAFETY DOCUMENTATION

6.5. The safety documentation to be developed in support of a licence application should, as a minimum, address the following:

- (a) The expected volumes and characteristics of the waste to be stored and the relevant acceptance criteria;
- (b) A description of handling and storage activities;
- (c) A description of the facility and its components, equipment and systems;
- (d) Site characterization;
- (e) The organizational control of the operations;
- (f) Procedures and operational manuals for activities with significant safety implications;
- (g) Safety assessment;
- (h) Monitoring programmes;
- (i) The training programme for staff;
- (j) The safeguards aspects, where applicable;
- (k) The arrangements for physical protection of radioactive material;
- (1) The emergency preparedness and response plan;
- (m) The management system;
- (n) Decommissioning;
- (o) Acceptance criteria for waste packages.

Where the storage facility is part of a larger nuclear facility, the safety documentation may be subsumed within the documentation for the overall facility.

# CHARACTERIZATION AND ACCEPTANCE CRITERIA FOR RADIOACTIVE WASTE

6.6. Waste acceptance criteria should be developed for the storage facility, with account taken of all relevant operational limits and future requirements for disposal, if the latter are known.

6.7. Waste characterization is generally performed by operators prior to shipment to the storage facility to verify that the waste meets the waste acceptance criteria. The characterization data should include all necessary information concerning the radionuclide inventory and the physical, chemical and pathogenic properties of the waste. Relevant documentation should accompany the waste each time it is shipped.

6.8. Waste from past activities may not have been characterized or may not have been characterized in accordance with present standards. In such cases, a means of characterizing the physical, chemical and radiological composition of the waste should be explored through inspection, measurement and the review of available information. If the radionuclide content and other required characteristics of the waste are not sufficiently well known, special precautions for its handling should be considered (e.g. the segregation of the waste within the facility).

6.9. Upon receipt, waste packages should be checked for leakage and surface contamination and to ensure that they are consistent with the documentation. Waste characterization, process control and process monitoring should be applied within a formal management system.

#### WASTE FORM AND WASTE PACKAGES

6.10. Containers should be designed and fabricated so that the waste is contained under all conditions of operation that might reasonably be expected to arise during their lifetime. Where the container itself is the primary barrier for containment of the waste, the strength and integrity of the container should

be appropriate for the type of waste and the expected radionuclide concentrations.

6.11. In all cases, the waste should be in a form that is retrievable at the end of the storage period. For longer storage periods, this requires a more robust waste form and container. Paragraphs 6.86–6.90 provide additional guidance on long term storage.

6.12. Special properties of, and processes affecting, radioactive waste should be taken into account in the design of containers and storage facilities, such as the following:

- (a) Corrosion due to chemical and galvanic reactions may result from interactions between the waste and its container.
- (b) Metals may exhibit pyrophoric behaviour (Magnox, uranium or Zircaloy® fines) or may be chemically reactive (e.g. aluminium corrodes in alkaline conditions to generate hydrogen).
- (c) Inorganic, non-metallic waste (such as concrete and some insulating materials) may be porous and may therefore be contaminated in bulk.
- (d) Pore water in concrete is highly alkaline and can affect materials in contact with concrete during storage.
- (e) Organic waste including cellulose, plastics (in electrical insulation, protective clothing, and laboratory and hospital disposables) and scintillation liquids may be combustible and may present a fire hazard.
- (f) Powders and ashes are easily dispersible.
- (g) Liquid waste may be in aqueous or organic form (such as oil) and can contain suspended solids (especially spent ion exchange resins, sludges and slurries). These can be chemically reactive and easily dispersible. Some suspended solids can settle or solidify after a period of storage.
- (h) Compacted waste can, in some instances, expand again, causing difficulties in retrieving the waste. In addition, compaction of dissimilar materials in the same container could bring chemically reactive mixtures into close contact, which could result in enhanced corrosion, spontaneous combustion or other adverse effects.
- (i) Gases such as hydrogen can be generated within some waste.
- (j) Radiolysis of polyvinyl chloride may generate corrosive substances, such as hydrogen chloride or chlorine gas.
- (k) There may be a potential for the generation of flammable gases by the chemical decomposition of waste (e.g. organic waste).

Some gaseous waste can be reacted chemically with inactive materials to produce a solid waste (such as barium carbonate for  $^{14}\mathrm{C})$  that is more passively safe.

6.13. The hazard potential of waste should be reduced as far as reasonably achievable at each stage of waste processing, with account taken of known or likely requirements for subsequent steps in radioactive waste management, in particular disposal. Early processing of waste to convert it to a passively safe form or otherwise to stabilize it should be considered. This will facilitate its handling in normal operation and will also help to protect it in the event of incidents.

6.14. The requirements for the performance of the container, in the event of incidents and accidents, should be specified to ensure the protection of workers and the public.

6.15. The storage environment (e.g. the ranges in ambient temperature and humidity) should be taken into account in the design of storage containers. As appropriate, containers should be sufficiently resistant to corrosion over the duration of storage. The placement of storage containers on surfaces where condensation cycles can develop should be avoided.

6.16. For certain types of waste (particularly corrosive liquid waste), special precautions such as the use of double walled containers and/or the lining of storage rooms with stainless steel or other corrosion resistant material may be necessary. Also, liquid waste may require a collection and recovery system below the containers (i.e. a secondary containment) with provision for monitoring for any leakage. In keeping with the principles of passive safety, liquid wastes should be converted to solids as early as practicable.

6.17. Consideration should be given to the dynamic and static loads resulting from the handling and stacking of the waste packages. The wall thickness of the containers, their filled weight and the stacking orientation should be taken into account at the design stage.

6.18. Some waste may have the potential for generating airborne radionuclides within the container; many types of storage container vent naturally but some may require a purpose built vent. The need for package venting should be considered as part of the safety assessment.

6.19. The design of waste storage containers should facilitate monitoring to allow the early detection of any failure of the containment, as appropriate (e.g. for gases and liquids).

6.20. Liquid waste may contain suspended solids which could settle on the bottom of a container (e.g. tank waste) or may contain substances that could precipitate out of solution. For some wastes it may be necessary to prevent settling of solids; for example, to prevent criticality or to facilitate decommissioning. For such wastes, solids should be kept suspended by means of a mixing device such as a mechanical stirrer, a pneumatic mixer or a circulation pump. Sluicers may need to be part of the design to facilitate the removal of any waste that may have precipitated on the interior surfaces of a tank. Additional internal hardware should be minimized to limit obstructions.

#### DESIGN OF STORAGE FACILITIES FOR RADIOACTIVE WASTE

#### General design considerations

6.21. Waste storage facilities should be designed so that the waste can be received, handled, stored, inspected or monitored and so that it can be retrieved without undue occupational or public radiation exposure or environmental impact.

6.22. In designing a facility, a defence in depth approach should be adopted, as appropriate for the given situation. Credit can often be taken for the performance of the waste form in the design of the package and in the design of the storage facility. Credit can also often be taken for the container. Some safety assessments conservatively do not take any credit for the waste form or for the performance of the waste package.

6.23. The following should be provided for in the design of storage facilities for radioactive waste for normal operations:

- (a) Containment of the stored materials;
- (b) Prevention of criticality (when storing fissile materials);
- (c) Radiation protection (shielding and contamination control);
- (d) Removal of heat (if applicable);
- (e) Ventilation, as necessary;
- (f) Inspection and/or monitoring of the waste packages, as necessary;
- (g) Maintenance and repair of waste packages;

- (h) Retrieval of the waste, whether for processing, repackaging or disposal;
- (i) Inspection of waste packages and of the storage facility;
- (j) Future expansion of the storage capacity, as appropriate;
- (k) Transport of waste inside the storage facility to improve the flexibility of operations;
- (l) Decommissioning.

6.24. The effects that the stored waste may have on the functionality of systems and the operation of the waste storage facility should be considered in the design of the facility. It should be ensured that such factors are taken into account by means of design features, the selection of appropriate materials and maintenance programmes. Factors that should be considered include the following:

- (a) Chemical stability against corrosion caused by processes within the waste and/or external conditions;
- (b) Protection against radiation damage and/or thermal damage, especially stability against the degradation of organic materials and damage to electronic devices;
- (c) Resistance to impacts from operational loads or due to incidents and accidents.

6.25. In addition to radiological hazards, external hazards (e.g. fire or explosion), which may contribute to radiologically significant consequences, should also be considered in the design of storage facilities for radioactive waste.

#### Site characteristics

6.26. A storage facility for radioactive waste may be established in connection with, or as part of, an existing nuclear installation. In this case, the site may be selected on the basis of factors that are important for the main facility and the waste storage facility may not require any additional considerations. The safety assessment performed for the siting of the main facility may demonstrate that the waste storage facility meets the radiological protection criteria in normal operation and in incident and accident conditions. If the siting requirements for the waste storage facility are more stringent than those for the main facility, then the safety case for storage should be addressed separately.

6.27. In cases where the waste storage facility is built separately from other licensed nuclear installations, the Safety Requirements publication on Site

Evaluation for Nuclear Installations [30] and the associated safety standards on the management system [11, 12] establish requirements and provide guidance that can be applied to waste storage facilities. The application of the requirements in respect of siting will, for waste storage facilities, depend on the potential radiological hazards posed by the waste stored.

#### Shielding

6.28. A waste storage facility should be designed to provide adequate shielding for workers and for the public. Maximum allowable radiation dose rates should be specified for waste packages and for shielding surfaces and other locations, in particular for structures and installations within the storage facility.

6.29. In making provisions for shielding in a waste storage facility, special care should be taken to prevent radiation streaming through the penetrations of shielding barriers, such as the penetrations for ventilation and cooling systems.

6.30. Where there is a possibility that a neutron generating source or neutron generating waste might be stored in the waste storage facility, the facility should also include neutron shielding.

#### Containment

6.31. The design of the facility should supplement the containment provided by the waste form and its container. The storage facility should incorporate features for:

- (a) Limiting the spread of contamination by using materials that can be easily monitored and decontaminated;
- (b) Controlling access to the radiation area, controlling movement between the radiation zone and/or contamination zones and, where applicable, maintaining an underpressure in rooms used for storage of contaminated material;
- (c) Minimizing the release of airborne particulate radionuclides to the environment by the provision of filters in the exhaust ventilation;
- (d) The removal of gaseous radionuclides, where applicable;
- (e) The collection of leaks or spills of liquid waste by the provision of sumps or catchment areas below containers, together with measures for the detection of leaks.

#### Provisions for waste handling

6.32. Waste handling equipment should be designed to include provision for the following:

- (a) Safe operation under all anticipated conditions;
- (b) Avoiding damage to the waste package;
- (c) Safe handling of defective or damaged waste packages;
- (d) Minimizing contamination of the equipment itself;
- (e) Avoiding the spread of contamination.

6.33. The design of the handling system should be considered in the safety assessment of the facility to ensure that handling failures could not result in unacceptable consequences. Where necessary, working practices and operational controls, such as the setting of limits on lift height and on the speed of moving equipment and the provision of dedicated transfer routes for loads, should be applied to minimize the consequences of impacts and collisions.

6.34. Where appropriate, equipment should be provided with suitable interlocks or physical limitations to prevent dangerous or incompatible operations, such as the incorrect placement of waste, the accidental release of loads or the application of incorrect forces in lifting and handling operations.

6.35. The need for remote handling should be considered in cases where the waste package is a source of radiation at high dose rates, where there is a risk that radioactive aerosols or gases could be released to the working environment, or where the waste might pose a significant non-radiological hazard (e.g. chemical toxicity).

6.36. Remote handling devices should be designed to provide the means for maintenance and repair (e.g. by the provision of a shielded service room) so as to keep occupational radiation exposures as low as reasonably achievable. Their design should incorporate a means to recover and to return to a stable and safe state in the event of a malfunction or breakdown.

#### Waste retrievability

6.37. The retrieval of waste for the purposes of inspection, remedial action and storage elsewhere should be made as straightforward as possible. Measures for achieving this include the appropriate design and construction of openings, passages and handling systems and the incorporation of appropriate stacking

systems or spacing for waste packages. The packages should be able to be uniquely identified and linked to the corresponding documentation.

6.38. Tanks for the bulk storage of liquid waste should be designed with the minimum practicable 'heel', meaning the minimum practicable volume of stored material that cannot be removed using the installed emptying equipment.

#### Ventilation

6.39. The need for a ventilation system should be assessed on a case by case basis. Factors to be considered include: the potential for the waste to create an airborne radiological hazard; the potential for the localized accumulation of hazardous gases; and the need to control ambient conditions (e.g. humidity, temperature), both for the operator's comfort and for maintaining the integrity of packages. The system design should include some spare capacity or equipment, as appropriate.

6.40. Waste may have the potential for generating airborne radionuclides. Ventilation systems to control airborne radioactive material should provide for the flow of air from areas with a low potential for contamination to those with a higher potential for contamination. As an extra precaution, a localized ventilation system could be installed for those areas with the highest potential for contamination.

6.41. The design of ventilation systems should be compatible with the measures taken for explosion safety and fire protection. Ventilation systems can be designed to control the accumulation of hazardous substances, e.g. flammable or explosive gases (such as hydrogen formed by radiolysis or chemical reactions).

6.42. The potential for drawing in hazardous gases, airborne radionuclides or humid air from external sources should be considered and, if necessary, design measures should be taken to prevent this.

6.43. The provision of off-gas cleaning systems or other measures to prevent the uncontrolled release of radionuclides in gaseous or aerosol form in normal operation and incidents and under postulated accident conditions should be considered. The ventilation discharge should be monitored for radioactivity.

#### **Temperature control**

6.44. Heat removal systems capable of cooling the waste may be necessary, especially for high level waste. The capability for heat removal should be such that the temperature of the stored waste does not exceed the maximum design temperature. The design of the heat removal system should take account of: the heat load of the waste; the heat transfer characteristics of the waste, the container and the facility; the maximum heat capacity of the facility and the need to mitigate the consequences of incidents and accidents.

6.45. If active heat removal systems are installed, consideration should be given to: the reliability of the systems, any need for redundancy and diversity, and the behaviour of the system in the event of incidents or accidents (e.g. the consequences of the failure of a common service). Passive heat removal systems (e.g. cooling by natural convection) are generally more reliable than active systems.

6.46. In some cases, such as for liquid aqueous wastes, the heating of a storage tank or of the facility may be necessary to prevent freezing and/or the precipitation of substances in cold weather.

#### Maintaining subcriticality

6.47. This Safety Guide does not specifically address the storage of spent fuel, for which guidance is given in Refs [8–10]. However, in some cases waste other than spent fuel may contain significant amounts of fissile material. In such cases, it should be ensured that in all anticipated conditions the waste will be kept at a concentration, in a configuration and in conditions that would prevent criticality during waste emplacement, storage and retrieval.

6.48. For the storage of waste containing fissile material, consideration should be given to the possible consequences of a change in the configuration of the waste, the introduction of a moderator or the removal of material (such as neutron absorbers), as a consequence of an internal or external event (e.g. movement of the waste, precipitation of solid phases from liquid waste, loss of containment of the waste or a seismic event).

#### Monitoring

6.49. Arrangements for monitoring the radiological conditions in the waste storage facility should be provided. The arrangements for monitoring should

include, as necessary, measurements of: radiation dose rates, concentrations of airborne radioactive material (e.g. dispersibles), levels of both fixed and/or loose surface contamination and neutron flux rates. In controlled areas, the provision of fixed, continuously operating instruments with local alarms to give information on radiation dose rates and airborne activity concentrations may be appropriate.

6.50. Portable or mobile dose rate meters should be provided for monitoring individual locations in any contamination controlled areas. Fixed or portable instruments to detect external contamination on workers should be provided at the exits from any controlled areas or when moving from a zone of higher contamination to a zone of lower contamination.

6.51. Where warranted, chemical conditions (e.g. concentrations of chloride or of flammable gases, chemical properties of liquids) and non-radiological parameters (e.g. temperature, pressure, humidity, flow rates of water coolant) should also be monitored.

6.52. All monitoring instruments should have measurement ranges that are adequate to cover the expected range of observations and should be periodically tested and calibrated.

6.53. Storage tanks for liquid waste should be provided with catchment sumps, with monitoring equipment used for the detection of leaks.

#### **Control and instrumentation**

6.54. Whenever practicable, process system controls (e.g. waste handling equipment and ventilation systems) should be independent of protection systems. If this is not feasible, detailed justification should be provided for the use of shared and interrelated systems. Alarms and indications to the operator should be clear and should not cause confusion.

6.55. Information on the status of systems important to safety but which are not readily accessible (e.g. the level of the liquid waste in a tank) should be made available to the operator by means of appropriately located indicator systems or other appropriate means.

#### Inspection of facility components and stored waste

6.56. The storage facility should be designed to facilitate the inspection of the structures, systems and components of the facility and of the waste and waste packages stored in the facility to the extent that they are important for ensuring safety. For example, there should be adequate clearance around storage racks and to allow for access with equipment; inspection ports should be provided on storage tanks.

6.57. Consideration should be given to including inactive simulant packages or corrosion coupons with stored waste for the purpose of monitoring conditions and performance.

#### **Reserve waste storage capacity**

6.58. There should be reserve storage capacity available to accommodate waste arising in various situations. Such situations may include abnormal conditions (e.g. the need to empty a leaking tank) or periods when modifications or refurbishments are being undertaken.

#### Utilities and auxiliary systems

6.59. A number of auxiliary systems may be necessary to ensure the safe operation of waste storage facilities. The need for auxiliary systems and their backups should be assessed on a case by case basis, such as for the storage of high level waste, for example.

6.60. Provision should be made for adequate and reliable illumination in support of the operation, inspection and physical protection of waste storage areas. Requirements for emergency preparedness [27] may necessitate the provision of power for emergency lighting from a power supply independent of the normal electricity supply.

6.61. Provision should be made for adequate internal and external communications to satisfy the operational and emergency requirements of the facility. Requirements include direct telephone lines to a fire brigade, to the regulatory body or to a national emergency management body, and intercom systems for prompt and full alerting of personnel. The specific requirements should be defined for each facility on a case by case basis.

#### **Fire protection systems**

6.62. A fire protection system of appropriate capacity and capability should be provided where there is a credible risk of fire. The design goals should be to limit the risk of release of radionuclides or toxic substances to the environment and into areas of the facility outside the storage area, as well as to limit the risk of fire damage to waste storage areas and auxiliary systems. Particular attention should be paid to requirements applicable to combustible untreated waste and waste products. It should be noted that certain waste products may contain substances capable of sustaining a fire in the absence of oxygen. For the fire protection system, account should also be taken of the need for the adequate containment and recovery of fire suppression media, which may become contaminated in extinguishing a fire (e.g. by the provision of a drainage and collection system for contaminated water).

# COMMISSIONING OF STORAGE FACILITIES FOR RADIOACTIVE WASTE

6.63. Commissioning of storage facilities will usually be carried out in several stages. For more complex facilities the following steps will normally be performed: construction, completion and inspection; equipment testing; demonstration of performance; non-active commissioning and active commissioning.

6.64. On completion of commissioning, a final commissioning report is usually produced. This report should document the 'as built' status of the facility and, in addition to providing information to facilitate operation, it should be consulted when considering possible future modifications and the decommissioning of the storage facility. The report should also document all testing, provide evidence of the successful completion of testing and document any modifications made to the facility or to procedures during commissioning. This report should be such as to provide assurance to the operator and the regulatory body that the conditions of authorization have been satisfied.

#### OPERATION OF STORAGE FACILITIES FOR RADIOACTIVE WASTE

#### **General operational considerations**

6.65. Typical operational activities associated with waste storage are the routine operations of receipt, processing, emplacement, storage and retrieval of waste packages and their preparation for disposal. Supporting activities include: radiation protection; monitoring and surveillance; testing and examination of waste packages; inspection of the components of the storage facility; maintenance and repair; labelling of waste packages and record keeping.

6.66. Storage facilities should be operated in accordance with written procedures. These procedures should be such as to ensure compliance with the operational limits and conditions approved for the storage facility by the regulatory body.

6.67. Modification of the storage conditions should be subject to specific plans and procedures and accompanied by appropriate authorizations from the regulatory body. The impact of any modifications on the safety of the stored waste should be considered in each case.

6.68. Operational practices and administrative controls appropriate to the level of hazard should be applied. Examples of these include:

- (a) The use of pre-work assessments and training mock-ups to minimize exposure during operation and maintenance activities;
- (b) The application of remote handling technologies for operation and maintenance;
- (c) Establishment of contamination controls when items are transferred or removed from areas of higher contamination to areas of lower contamination;
- (d) Appropriate planning for, and careful conduct of, storage activities so as to minimize exposure during operation and maintenance activities.

6.69. A system for tracking waste packages should be developed and maintained. For large storage facilities, a computerized system for tracking waste packages should be considered. Where practicable, a detailed storage plan showing the configuration of the emplaced waste packages, including the zoning for the level of hazards, should be prepared and maintained.

#### **Operational limits and conditions**

6.70. Storage facilities should be operated in accordance with a set of operational limits and conditions that are derived from the safety assessment of the facility to identify the safe boundaries of operation. Operational limits and conditions set out specifications relating to waste packages, safety systems and procedures, radiological criteria and requirements for personnel. Operational limits and conditions for storage facilities should be developed by the operator and should be subject to approval by the regulatory body. Operational limits and conditions should be revised as necessary in the light of experience from commissioning and operation, modifications made to the facility and changes in safety standards. Reference [31] provides guidance for the development and implementation of operational limits and conditions for radioactive waste.

6.71. The risks posed by the waste and the conditions of its storage should be taken into consideration in determining the operational limits and conditions. The operational limits and conditions will be specific to each storage facility. The operator may wish to set administrative margins below the specified limits as an operational target to remain within the operational limits and conditions.

6.72. Operational limits and conditions for the storage of waste should include, as appropriate:

- (a) Specifications for waste packages (waste form, radionuclide content and container characteristics) consistent with the waste acceptance criteria for the storage facility;
- (b) Concentration limits for liquid waste, e.g. to prevent the precipitation of solids;
- (c) Requirements for safety systems, e.g. requirements for ventilation, heat removal, tank agitation and radiation monitoring, including requirements for the availability of these features in normal and abnormal conditions;
- (d) Periodic testing of equipment, especially backup systems that need to be available in emergency conditions;
- (e) Maximum radiation dose rates, especially on container surfaces;
- (f) Maximum levels of surface contamination for containers;
- (g) Requirements for training and qualification of personnel and minimum staffing levels;
- (h) Limits on the cumulative radionuclide inventory.

6.73. The initial operational limits and conditions should normally be developed in cooperation with the facility designers well before the commencement of operation to ensure that adequate time is available for their assessment by the regulatory body.

#### **Operational procedures**

6.74. Procedures should be developed for managing and operating the storage facility under normal conditions, in incidents and under postulated accident conditions. Procedures should address such issues as those listed in para. 6.5 and should be prepared so that the designated responsible person can understand and perform each action in the proper sequence. Responsibilities for the approval of any necessary deviations from procedures for operational reasons should be clearly defined. Any deviation from the approved operational procedures should be justified and its implications for safety should be determined.

6.75. In accordance with the management system, arrangements should be in place for the review and approval of operating procedures and for the communication to operating personnel of any revisions. Periodic reviews should be undertaken to take account of operational experience. Any revisions should be adopted only after they have been reviewed to ensure compliance with operational limits and conditions, approved by authorized persons and documented.

#### **Radiation protection**

6.76. The objectives of the radiation protection programme are to ensure that the radiation doses to workers and to members of the public arising from the normal operation and the possible abnormal operation of the storage facility do not exceed regulatory limits and that radiation protection is optimized. Releases of radioactive material to the environment should also be controlled in accordance with the requirements of the regulatory body. More detailed guidance on radiation protection is given in other IAEA publications [28, 29].

6.77. Additional procedures for radiation protection may be necessary for application to non-routine activities for waste storage, such as the movement of waste through passages and areas commonly used by personnel, the handling of packages with undocumented characteristics and the purging of areas where ventilation is intermittent.

6.78. Radiation dose rates should be specified for waste packages, shielding surfaces and other locations and radiation levels should be monitored at intervals sufficient to alert the operator to any changes due, for example, to the unexpected and undetected buildup of radioactive material or the degradation of shielding.

#### Maintenance, testing and inspection

6.79. Before the start of operations, the operator should prepare a programme of periodic maintenance, testing and inspection of systems that are essential to safe operation. The need for maintenance, testing and inspection should be addressed from the design stage. Non-intrusive testing and inspection that incorporates the diagnostic assessment of performance as part of normal inservice activities is to be preferred. Testing and inspection should establish and verify correct function, performance and conditions against acceptance criteria. The programme should be periodically reviewed with account taken of operational experience. Systems and components that should be considered for periodic maintenance, testing and inspection may include:

- (a) Waste containment systems, including tanks and other containers;
- (b) Waste handling systems, including pumps and valves;
- (c) Heating and/or cooling systems;
- (d) Radiation monitoring systems;
- (e) Calibration of instruments;
- (f) Ventilation systems;
- (g) Normal and standby systems for electrical power supply;
- (h) Utilities and auxiliary systems such as systems for water, gas and compressed air;
- (i) The system for physical protection;
- (j) Building structures and radiation shielding;
- (k) Fire protection systems.

6.80. The frequency of maintenance, testing and inspection should be such as to ensure that the reliability of equipment remains high and that the effectiveness of systems remains in accordance with the design intent for the facility. The reliability of systems should not be significantly affected by the frequency of testing.

6.81. Suitably qualified, trained and experienced personnel should be deployed in the approval and implementation of the maintenance, testing and inspection

programme and in the approval of associated procedures. Test procedures should normally include test acceptance criteria.

6.82. Records should be kept of activities for maintenance, testing and inspection. These records should be subject to periodic review to establish trends in system performance, the reliability of components in the system and the effectiveness of the maintenance programme. The reviews should include the identification of appropriate corrective measures.

#### Security and access control

6.83. Access to areas in which waste is stored should be controlled to ensure safety and the physical protection of materials. In meeting operational requirements to control access, a zoned approach, working inwards towards areas having more stringent controls, may be applied. There should be provisions for detecting any unauthorized intrusion and for taking countermeasures promptly.

#### DECOMMISSIONING OF STORAGE FACILITIES FOR RADIOACTIVE WASTE

6.84. Prior to decommissioning, a decommissioning plan should be prepared in which account is taken of any radioactive contamination that remains, technical factors, costs, schedules, institutional factors and the management of the waste arising from the decommissioning activities [19].

6.85. Where waste is stored in an independent facility, a specific decommissioning plan should be prepared for that facility [19]. Where the storage facility is part of a larger nuclear facility, the decommissioning plan for the storage facility will generally be a part of that for the larger nuclear facility.

#### LONG TERM STORAGE OF RADIOACTIVE WASTE

6.86. Long term storage of radioactive waste refers to situations in which waste is stored for periods that exceed the original design life of the containers and storage facilities, for example, owing to the disposal of the waste being delayed or postponed. Long term storage can also refer to situations in which the waste packages and storage facility are designed for relatively long periods of storage (e.g. 100 years). 6.87. Additional technical considerations for long term storage of waste are:

- (a) Engineered systems, facilities and institutional controls should be more robust or should be more actively maintained. If possible, passive safety features should be used.
- (b) Information should be retained in a readable and understandable form for future generations. For long periods of time, the deterioration of records (whether material or electronic) will be more significant.
- (c) Inadvertent or deliberate intrusion into waste storage facilities may be more likely over longer time periods and intrusion should be considered in the safety assessment.

6.88. For storage beyond the original intended period of storage, the design life of the storage facility and that of the waste packages may be exceeded. This should prompt a re-evaluation of the storage strategy, which may include a reevaluation of the initial design, operations, the safety assessment and other aspects of the waste storage facility.

6.89. For storage beyond the original intended period, testing, examination or evaluation may be necessary to assess the integrity of waste packages. Potential problems with waste packages should be considered in advance of the need for physical action (such as overpacking or placing the waste into new waste packages). In some cases it may be justified to move waste packages into a more robust storage facility rather than to overpack or replace them.

6.90. For unanticipated long term storage, consideration should be given to mitigation of the consequences of potential changes in the stored radioactive waste. Changes in the stored waste may include:

- (a) The generation of hazardous gases caused by chemical and radiolytic effects (e.g. the generation of hydrogen gas by radiolysis) and the buildup of overpressure;
- (b) The generation of combustible or corrosive substances;
- (c) The corrosion of metals (e.g. carbon steel);
- (d) Degradation of the waste form.

These considerations are especially important for long term storage for which small effects may accumulate over long periods of time. Uncertainties in parameters and models should be considered in analytical approaches used to evaluate processes over long periods of time.

#### Appendix

#### SAFETY ASSESSMENT OF FACILITIES FOR THE STORAGE OF RADIOACTIVE WASTE

A.1. With few exceptions, storage facilities for radioactive waste accommodate relatively small energy sources and as such there are relatively few credible mechanisms for the sudden release of radioactive material. Furthermore, storage facilities for radioactive waste are usually designed around passive rather than active safety systems and hence do not rely on the provision of complex systems to ensure safety.

A.2. A safety assessment comprises an evaluation of those aspects of the design and operation of a storage facility for radioactive waste that ensure the protection of workers, the public and the environment under normal conditions and in accident situations.

A.3. Safety assessment is typically an iterative process used to ensure that a storage facility for radioactive waste can be operated safely. Safety assessment should be used early in the design process to identify hazards and scenarios that may require modifications to the proposed design or to operational procedures to achieve safety as specified by the regulatory body. Generally, reliance should be placed principally on design features rather than on operational procedures in the control of radiation hazards.

A.4. The graded approach to safety assessment implies that the scope and the detail of the safety assessment and its supporting documentation are commensurate with the nature and extent of the potential hazards. For the purpose of grading, a generic system for categorization by level of radiological hazard may provide an indicator for the level of analysis required to support the safety assessment. The description of radiological threat categories in Appendix 4 of Ref. [32] suggests such a categorization system. Similar hazard categories are often specified in national laws and regulations.

A.5. The conditions, processes and events that may influence the integrity and safety of a storage facility for radioactive waste may be considered to originate either outside or within the facility. These conditions, processes and events will be primarily of three types: external natural phenomena, internal phenomena and external human induced phenomena. Annexes III–V of Ref. [5] provide good starting points for consideration in developing a safety assessment for a storage facility for radioactive waste. Generic lists should not be solely relied

on, since site specific environmental conditions and phenomena and the design and operations of the facility will dictate the conditions, processes and events that should be evaluated in the safety assessment.

A.6. The types, quantities and physical and chemical characteristics of the waste should be considered in the safety assessment of storage facilities for radioactive waste. For example, radioactive waste that has been conditioned (e.g. solidified in a grouted form) will be likely to have a lower damage ratio under many accident conditions than similar waste in unconditioned form. The damage ratio is a parameter used to take account of the availability of material under accident conditions.

A.7. The safety assessment of a storage facility for radioactive waste should encompass the expected duration of operation of the facility. The storage of waste for longer periods of time would require events of lower likelihood to be evaluated in the safety assessment than for a shorter duration of storage. In addition, processes that may have been neglected for a shorter duration of storage may become significant for a longer duration of storage (e.g. radiolytic generation of gas, general corrosion of waste canisters or radiation induced embrittlement of polyethylene containers).

A.8. The different stages of the facility's lifetime should be taken into account in the safety assessment of a storage facility for radioactive waste. The safety assessment should be periodically evaluated and, if necessary, revised to reflect changes in the conditions, facilities or procedures.

# SAFETY ASSESSMENT OF SMALL STORAGE FACILITIES FOR RADIOACTIVE WASTE

A.9. The approach to safety assessment for small storage facilities will usually rely on generic checklists for the identification of hazards and generic procedures; extensive quantitative safety analysis is usually not necessary. Many procedures and checklist items for safety assessment of small facilities such as laboratories are also applicable to small storage facilities for radioactive waste.

A.10. For small storage facilities for radioactive waste (e.g. a secure storage room in a medical facility), safety can be achieved by the application of documented procedures and limits. The topics to be covered in such procedures

and limits are largely described in Sections 4 and 5 and could, for example, include:

- (a) A description of the storage facility and how it is to be operated;
- (b) Activity limits for the accumulated inventory of radionuclides;
- (c) Discharge limits for radionuclides;
- (d) Names of the individuals responsible for the facility;
- (e) Access control;
- (f) Surface dose rates;
- (g) Materials that are permitted for storage;
- (h) Rules for the segregation, packaging and labelling of waste;
- (i) Record keeping;
- (j) Emergency plans;
- (k) A statement of the applicable regulations and guidance.

A.11. Having facility limits for the radionuclide inventory is one way of ensuring the safety of small storage facilities, in particular under abnormal operating conditions. The regulatory body may choose to set generic inventory limits for small storage facilities. Methods for preparing radiological assessments of facilities such as small storage facilities for radioactive waste (e.g. those at hospitals and universities) have been published by national agencies [33].

# SAFETY ASSESSMENT OF LARGE STORAGE FACILITIES FOR RADIOACTIVE WASTE

A.12. Large storage facilities for radioactive waste, owing to their complexity and their large accumulations of radioactive material, will require site specific and facility specific safety analyses that employ both qualitative and quantitative methods of safety assessment.

A.13. The IAEA has yet to develop safety standards for the design and safety analysis of fuel cycle facilities such as storage facilities for radioactive waste, although safety requirements for fuel cycle facilities are at present being developed [34]. Some of the information on safety assessment that is available in IAEA technical documents is applicable to storage facilities [35–39]. A facility specific safety analysis would include steps such as:

(a) Description of the system (including an estimate of the maximum inventory of radioactive material) and a specification of the applicable

regulations and guidance. The latter, for example, would indicate whether the facility should be seismically qualified.

- (b) Systematic identification of conditions, processes and events associated with normal and abnormal conditions and external events (e.g. fires or handling accidents that involve the breach of waste containers).
- (c) Hazard evaluation. Screening of combinations of conditions, processes and events that may result in the release of radioactive material from the waste storage facility, so as to eliminate from further consideration those of diminished likelihood or consequence.
- (d) Risk calculation. The probabilities and consequences of the release(s) of radioactive material identified in the hazard evaluation are assessed by quantitative analysis and compared with regulatory limits.
- (e) Establishment of limits, conditions and controls on the basis of the safety analysis. If necessary, the design of the facility is modified and the safety analysis is modified.
- (f) Documentation of the safety assessment to support licensing of the facility.

The safety assessment should identify the key drivers of risk so that the limiting safety systems are identified and so that a level of confidence in the parameters supporting the safety assessment can be established that is commensurate with their significance (e.g. by sensitivity analysis).

A.14. The safety assessment should include an assessment of the risk during normal operation and abnormal operation and under the conditions associated with external events, and should provide an assessment of doses at the site boundary and potential exposures in areas where there is unrestricted access. As appropriate, authorized limits on discharges should be established for the facility, following the guidance provided in Ref. [13].

A.15. Different methods may be used for quantitative safety assessment of a large storage facility for radioactive waste (e.g. integrated safety analyses and probabilistic risk assessments). Whereas for a small facility it may be possible to rely on generic data (e.g. meteorological data, values of environmental parameters, damage ratios or leak path factors) to support the safety assessment, site specific information should be used for a large facility.

A.16. The process of safety assessment for a large storage facility for radioactive waste should usually be iterative. An initial safety assessment that yields results that are close to or exceed the limiting performance objectives would suggest the need for additional safety systems and controls and/or a

more rigorous evaluation of the suitability of any generic data sources that have been used.

A.17. Safety assessment may be carried out to satisfy a requirement for periodic safety review, which is a regulatory requirement in many States. Periodic safety review is a key regulatory instrument for maintaining the safety of facility operations in the long term and for addressing requests by licensees for authorization to continue operation of the facility beyond an established licensed term or a period established by safety evaluation. A periodic safety review provides reassurance that there continues to be a valid licensing basis, with ageing of the facility, modifications made to the facility and current international safety standards taken into consideration. Guidance for the conduct of a periodic safety review is provided in Ref. [40].

#### REFERENCES

- [1] EUROPEAN ATOMIC ENERGY COMMUNITY. FOOD AND AGRICULTURE ORGANIZATION THE UNITED NATIONS. OF INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY. INTERNATIONAL LABOUR ORGANIZATION. INTERNATIONAL MARITIME ORGANIZATION. OECD NUCLEAR ENERGY AGENCY. PAN AMERICAN HEALTH ORGANIZATION. UNITED NATIONS ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME, WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION, Fundamental Safety Principles, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. SF-1, IAEA, Vienna (2006).
- [2] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Legal and Governmental Infrastructure for Nuclear, Radiation, Radioactive Waste and Transport Safety, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. GS-R-1, IAEA, Vienna (2000).
- [3] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Predisposal Management of Radioactive Waste, Including Decommissioning, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. WS-R-2, IAEA, Vienna (2000).
- [4] FOOD AND AGRICULTURE ORGANIZATION OF THE UNITED NATIONS, INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, INTERNATIONAL LABOUR ORGANISATION, OECD NUCLEAR ENERGY AGENCY, PAN AMERICAN HEALTH ORGANIZATION, WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION, International Basic Safety Standards for Protection against Ionizing Radiation and for the Safety of Radiation Sources, Safety Series No. 115, IAEA, Vienna (1996).
- [5] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Predisposal Management of Low and Intermediate Level Radioactive Waste, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. WS-G-2.5, IAEA, Vienna (2003).
- [6] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Predisposal Management of High Level Radioactive Waste, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. WS-G-2.6, IAEA, Vienna (2003).
- [7] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Management of Waste from the Use of Radioactive Material in Medicine, Industry, Agriculture, Research and Education, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. WS-G-2.7, IAEA, Vienna (2005).
- [8] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Design of Spent Fuel Storage Facilities, Safety Series No. 116, IAEA, Vienna (1994).
- [9] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Operation of Spent Fuel Storage Facilities, Safety Series No. 117, IAEA, Vienna (1994).
- [10] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safety Assessment for Spent Fuel Storage Facilities, Safety Series No. 118, IAEA, Vienna (1994).
- [11] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, The Management System for Facilities and Activities, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. GS-R-3, IAEA, Vienna (2006).

- [12] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Application of the Management System for Facilities and Activities, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. GS--3.1, IAEA, Vienna (2006).
- [13] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Regulatory Control of Radioactive Discharges to the Environment, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. WS-G-2.3, IAEA, Vienna (2000).
- [14] INTERNATIONAL NUCLEAR SAFETY ADVISORY GROUP, Safety Culture, Safety Series No. 75-INSAG-4, IAEA, Vienna (1991).
- [15] Joint Convention on the Safety of Spent Fuel Management and on the Safety of Radioactive Waste Management, INFCIRC/546, IAEA, Vienna (1997).
- [16] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Review and Assessment of Nuclear Facilities by the Regulatory Body, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. GS-G-1.2, IAEA, Vienna (2002).
- [17] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Documentation for Use in Regulating Nuclear Facilities, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. GS-G-1.4, IAEA, Vienna (2002).
- [18] FOOD AND AGRICULTURE ORGANIZATION OF THE UNITED NATIONS, INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, INTERNATIONAL LABOUR OFFICE, PAN AMERICAN HEALTH ORGANIZATION, WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION, Regulatory Control of Radiation Sources, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. GS-G-1.5, IAEA, Vienna (2004).
- [19] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Decommissioning of Nuclear Fuel Cycle Facilities, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. WS-G-2.4, IAEA, Vienna (2001).
- [20] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Decommissioning of Medical, Industrial and Research Facilities, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. WS-G-2.2, IAEA, Vienna (1999).
- [21] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Code of Conduct on the Safety and Security of Radioactive Sources, IAEA/CODEOC/2004, IAEA, Vienna (2004).
- [22] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Security of Radioactive Sources, IAEA-TECDOC-1355, IAEA, Vienna (2003).
- [23] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Management for the Prevention of Accidents from Disused Sealed Radioactive Sources, IAEA-TECDOC-1205, IAEA, Vienna (2001).
- [24] WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION, Safe Management of Wastes from Health-Care Activities (PRÜSS, A., GIROULT, E., RUSHBROOK, P., Eds), WHO, Geneva (1999).
- [25] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Application of the Concepts of Exclusion, Exemption and Clearance, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. RS-G-1.7, IAEA, Vienna (2004).

- [26] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Derivation of Activity Concentration Values for Exclusion, Exemption and Clearance, Safety Reports Series No. 44, IAEA, Vienna (2005).
- [27] FOOD AND AGRICULTURE ORGANIZATION OF THE UNITED NATIONS, INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, INTERNATIONAL LABOUR ORGANIZATION, OECD NUCLEAR ENERGY AGENCY, PAN AMERICAN HEALTH ORGANIZATION, UNITED NATIONS OFFICE FOR THE COORDINATION OF HUMANITARIAN AFFAIRS, WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION, Preparedness and Response for a Nuclear or Radiological Emergency, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. GS-R-2, IAEA, Vienna (2002).
- [28] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Optimization of Radiation Protection in the Control of Occupational Exposure, Safety Reports Series No. 21, IAEA, Vienna (2002).
- [29] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Occupational Radiation Protection, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. RS-G-1.1, IAEA, Vienna (1999).
- [30] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Site Evaluation for Nuclear Installations, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. NS-R-3, IAEA, Vienna (2003).
- [31] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Operational Limits and Conditions and Operating Procedures for Nuclear Power Plants, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. NS-G-2.2, IAEA, Vienna (2000).
- [32] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Method for Developing Arrangements for Response to a Nuclear or Radiological Emergency, EPR-METHOD 2003, IAEA, Vienna (2003).
- [33] NATIONAL RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION BOARD, Radiological Assessments for Small Users, Rep. NRPB-W63, NRPB, Chilton, United Kingdom (2004).
- [34] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safety of Fuel Cycle Facilities, IAEA Safety Standards Series, IAEA, Vienna (in preparation).
- [35] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Consideration of External Events in the Design of Nuclear Facilities Other Than Nuclear Power Plants, with Emphasis on Earthquakes, IAEA-TECDOC-1347, IAEA, Vienna (2003).
- [36] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Procedures for Conducting Probabilistic Safety Assessment for Non-Reactor Nuclear Facilities, IAEA-TECDOC-1267, IAEA, Vienna (2002).
- [37] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Seismic Design Considerations of Nuclear Fuel Cycle Facilities, IAEA-TECDOC-1250, IAEA, Vienna (2001).
- [38] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safety of and Regulations for Nuclear Fuel Cycle Facilities, IAEA-TECDOC-1221, IAEA, Vienna (2001).
- [39] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Guidelines for Integrated Risk Assessment and Management in Large Industrial Areas, IAEA-TECDOC-994, IAEA, Vienna (1998).

[40] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Periodic Safety Review of Nuclear Power Plants, IAEA Safety Standards Series No. NS-G-2.10, IAEA, Vienna (2003).

## **CONTRIBUTORS TO DRAFTING AND REVIEW**

Abramidze, S.	Institute of Physics, Georgia
Bennett, D.	Environment Agency, United Kingdom
Campomanes, R.	Direction générale de la sûreté nucléaire et de la radioprotection, France
Conlon, P.J.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Dyck, P.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Éhn, L.	Slovak Electric-VYZ, Slovakia
Eigenwillig, G.G.	Siemens AG, Germany
Esh, D.W.	Nuclear Regulatory Commission, United States of America
Garamszeghy, M.	Ontario Power Generation, Canada
Guy, M.S.C.	Alara Consultants, South Africa
Hall, J.R.	Nuclear Regulatory Commission, United States of America
Hamlat, M.S.	Centre de radioprotection et de sûreté, Algeria
Howard, D.	Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission, Canada
Hutchison, S.	Health and Safety Executive, United Kingdom
Jauhri, G.S.	Radiation Safety Systems Division, India
Knecht, B.	Swiss Federal Nuclear Safety Inspectorate, Switzerland
Konecný, L.	Nuclear Regulatory Authority, Slovakia
Leeds, E.	Nuclear Regulatory Commission, United States of America
Lexan, D.	Nuclear Engineering Seibersdorf, Austria
Linsley, G.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Lorenz, B.	Gesellschaft für Nuklear-Service, Germany
Metcalf, P.E.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Rowat, J.H.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Schaller, A.	Hazardous Waste Management Agency, Croatia
Selling, H.A.	Ministerie van VROM, Netherlands
Sjoeblom, KL.	International Atomic Energy Agency
Syed Abdul Malik, S.Z.	Malaysian Institute for Nuclear Technology Research, Malaysia

Szitás, I.	Ministry of Economy, Slovakia
Tauber, J.	Department of Nuclear Waste Technology, Austria
Warnecke, E.	International Atomic Energy Agency

#### **BODIES FOR THE ENDORSEMENT OF IAEA SAFETY STANDARDS**

An asterisk denotes a corresponding member. Corresponding members receive drafts for comment and other documentation but they do not generally participate in meetings.

#### **Commission on Safety Standards**

Argentina: Oliveira, A.; Australia: Loy, J.; Brazil: Souza de Assis, A.; Canada: Pereira, J.K.; China: Li, G.; Czech Republic: Drábová, D.; Denmark: Ulbak, K.; Egypt: Abdel-Hamid, S.B.; France: Lacoste, A.-C. (Chairperson); Germany: Majer, D.; India: Sharma, S.K.; Israel: Levanon, I.; Japan: Abe, K.; Korea, Republic of: Eun, Y.-S.; Pakistan: Hashmi, J.; Russian Federation: Malyshev, A.B.; South Africa: Magugumela, M.T.; Spain: Azuara, J.A.; Sweden: Holm, L.-E.; Switzerland: Schmocker, U.; United Kingdom: Weightman, M.; United States of America: Virgilio, M.; European Commission: Waeterloos, C.; IAEA: Karbassioun, A. (Coordinator); International Commission on Radiological Protection: Holm, L.-E.; OECD Nuclear Energy Agency: Tanaka, T.

#### **Nuclear Safety Standards Committee**

Argentina: Sajaroff, P.; Australia: MacNab, D.; Austria: Sholly, S.; Belgium: Govaerts, P.; Brazil: de Queiroz Bogado Leite, S.; \*Bulgaria: Gantchev, Y.; Canada: Newland, D.; China: Wang, J.; Croatia: Valcic, I.; \*Cyprus: Demetriades, P.; Czech Republic: Böhm, K.; Egypt: Aly, A.I.M.; Finland: Reiman, L. (Chairperson); France: Saint Raymond, P.; Germany: Herttrich, M.; \*Greece: Camarinopoulos, L.; Hungary: Vöröss, L.; India: Kushwaha, H.S.; Iran, Islamic Republic of: Alidousti, A.; \*Iraq: Khalil Al-Kamil, A.-M.; Ireland: Hone, C.; Israel: Hirshfeld, H.; Italy: Bava, G.; Japan: Nakamura, K.; Korea, Republic of: Kim, H.-K.; Lithuania: Demcenko, M.; Mexico: González Mercado, V.; Netherlands: Jansen, R.; Pakistan: Habib, M.A.; Paraguay: Troche Figueredo, G.D.; \*Peru: Ramírez Quijada, R.; Portugal: Marques, J.J.G.; Romania: Biro, L.; Russian Federation: Shvetsov, Y.E.; Slovakia: Uhrik, P.; Slovenia: Levstek, M.F.; South Africa: Bester, P.J.; Spain: Zarzuela, J.; Sweden: Hallman, A.; Switzerland: Aeberli, W.; \*Thailand: Tanipanichskul, P.; Turkey: Bezdegumeli, U.; Ukraine: Bezsalyi, V.; United Kingdom: Vaughan, G.J.; United

States of America: Mayfield, M.E.; European Commission: Vigne, S.; IAEA: Feige, G. (Coordinator); International Organization for Standardization: Nigon, J.L.; OECD Nuclear Energy Agency: Reig, J.; \*World Nuclear Association: Saint-Pierre, S.

#### **Radiation Safety Standards Committee**

Belgium: Smeesters, P.; Brazil: Rodriguez Rochedo, E.R.; \*Bulgaria: Katzarska, L.; Canada: Clement, C.; China: Yang, H.; Costa Rica: Pacheco Jimenez, R.; Cuba: Betancourt Hernandez, L.; \*Cyprus: Demetriades, P.; Czech Republic: Petrova, K.; Denmark: Ohlenschlager, M.; \*Egypt: Hassib, G.M; Finland: Markkanen, M.; France: Godet, J.; Germany: Landfermann, H.; \*Greece: Kamenopoulou, V.; Hungary: Koblinger, L.; Iceland: Magnusson, S. (Chairperson); India: Sharma, D.N.; Indonesia: Akhadi, M.; Iran, Islamic Republic of: Rastkhah, N.; \*Iraq: Khalil Al-Kamil, A.-M.; Ireland: Colgan, T.; Israel: Laichter, Y.; Italy: Bologna, L.; Japan: Yoda, N.; Korea, Republic of: Lee, B.; Latvia: Salmins, A.; Malaysia: Rehir, D.; Mexico: Maldonado Mercado, H.; Morocco: Tazi, S.; Netherlands: Zuur, C.; Norway: Saxebol, G.; Pakistan: Mehboob, A.E.; Paraguay: Idoyago Navarro, M.; Philippines: Valdezco, E.; Portugal: Dias de Oliviera, A.; Romania: Rodna, A.; Russian Federation: Savkin, M.; Slovakia: Jurina, V.; Slovenia: Sutej, T.; South Africa: Olivier, J.H.I.; Spain: Amor, I.; Sweden: Hofvander, P.; Switzerland: Pfeiffer, H.J.; \*Thailand: Wanitsuksombut, W.; Turkey: Okyar, H.; Ukraine: Holubiev, V.; United Kingdom: Robinson, I.; United States of America: Miller, C.; European Commission: Janssens, A.; Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Byron, D.; IAEA: Boal, T. (Coordinator); International Commission on Radiological Protection: Valentin, J.; International Labour Office: Niu, S.; International Organization for Standardization: Perrin, M.; OECD Nuclear Energy Agency: Lazo, T.; Pan American Health Organization: Jimenez, P.; United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation: Crick, M.; World Health Organization: Carr, Z.; World Nuclear Association: Saint-Pierre, S.

#### **Transport Safety Standards Committee**

Argentina: López Vietri, J.; Australia: Sarkar, S.; Austria: Kirchnawy, F.; Belgium: Cottens, E.; Brazil: Mezrahi, A.; Bulgaria: Bakalova, A.; Canada: Faille, S.; China: Qu, Z.; Croatia: Kubelka, D.; Cuba: Quevedo Garcia, J.R.; \*Cyprus: Demetriades, P.; Czech Republic: Ducháček, V.; Denmark:

Breddan, K.; \*Egypt: El-Shinawy, R.M.K.; Finland: Tikkinen, J.; France: Aguilar, J.; Germany: Rein, H.; \*Greece: Vogiatzi, S.; Hungary: Sáfár, J.; India: Agarwal, S.P.; Iran, Islamic Republic of: Kardan, M.R.; \*Iraq: Khalil Al-Kamil, A.-M.; Ireland: Duffy, J. (Chairperson); Israel: Koch, J.; Italy: Trivelloni, S.; Japan: Amano, M.; Korea, Republic of: Kim, Y.-J.; Malaysia: Sobari, M.P.M.; Netherlands: Van Halem, H.; New Zealand: Ardouin, C.; Norway: Hornkjøl, S.; Pakistan: Rashid, M.; Paraguay: More Torres, L.E.; Philippines: Kinilitan-Parami, V.; Portugal: Buxo da Trindade, R.; Romania: Vieru, G.; Russian Federation: Ershov, V.N.; South Africa: Jutle, K.; Spain: Zamora Martin, F.; Sweden: Dahlin, G.; Switzerland: Knecht, B.; \*Thailand: Wanitsuksombut, W.; Turkey: Ertürk, K.; Ukraine: Sakalo, V.; United Kingdom: Young, C.N.; United States of America: Brach, W.E.; Boyle, R.; European Commission: Venchiarutti, J.-C.; International Air Transport Association: Abouchaar, J.; IAEA: Wangler, M.E. (Coordinator); International Civil Aviation Organization: Rooney, K.; International Federation of Air Line Pilots' Associations: Tisdall, A.; International Maritime Organization: Rahim, I.; International Organization for Standardization: Malesys, P.; United Nations Economic Commission for Europe: Kervella, O.; Universal Postal Union: Giroux, P.; World Nuclear Transport Institute: Green, L.

#### Waste Safety Standards Committee

Argentina: Siraky, G.; Australia: Williams, G.; Austria: Hohenberg, J.; Belgium: Baekelandt, L.; Brazil: Heilbron, P.; \*Bulgaria: Simeonov, G.; Canada: Lojk, R.; China: Fan, Z.; Croatia: Subasic, D.; Cuba: Salgado Mojena, M.; \*Cyprus: Demetriades, P.; \*Czech Republic: Lieteva, P.; Denmark: Nielsen, C.; \*Egypt: El-Adham, K.E.A.; Finland: Ruokola, E.; France: Cailleton, R.; Hungary: Czoch, I.; India: Raj, K.; Indonesia: Yatim, S.; Iran, Islamic Republic of: Ettehadian, M.; \*Iraq: Abass, H.; Israel: Dody, A.; Italy: Dionisi, M.; Japan: Ito, Y.; Korea, Republic of: Park, W.; \*Latvia: Salmins, A.; Lithuania: Paulikas, V.; Mexico: Aguirre Gómez, J.; Morocco: Soufi, I.; Netherlands: Selling, H.; \*Norway: Sorlie, A.; Pakistan: Rehman, R.; Paraguay: Facetti Fernandez, J.; Portugal: Flausino de Paiva, M.; Romania: Tuturici, I.; Russian Federation: Poluektov, P.P.; Slovakia: Konečný, L.; Slovenia: Mele, I.; South Africa: Pather, T. (Chairperson); Spain: Sanz, M.; Sweden: Wingefors, S.; Switzerland: Zurkinden, A.; Turkey: Özdemir, T.; Ukraine: Iievlev, S.; United Kingdom: Wilson, C.; United States of America: Camper, L.; European Commission: Hilden, W.; IAEA: Hioki, K. (Coordinator); International Organization for Standardization: Hutson, G.; OECD Nuclear Energy Agency: Riotte, H.; World Nuclear Association: Saint-Pierre, S.



STI/PUB/1217 (88 pp.; 2005)

#### PREDISPOSAL MANAGEMENT OF HIGH LEVEL RADIOACTIVE WASTE Safetv Guide

Safety Standards Series No. WS-G-2.6 STI/PUB/1151 (68 pp.; 2003) ISBN 92-0-102503-3

Safety Standards Series No. WS-G-2.7

### PREDISPOSAL MANAGEMENT OF LOW AND INTERMEDIATE LEVEL **RADIOACTIVE WASTE**

#### Safety Guide

**Safety Guide** 

ISBN 92-0-113704-4

Safety Standards Series No. WS-G-2.5 STI/PUB/1150 (64 pp.; 2003) ISBN 92-0-12403-7

REMEDIATION OF AREAS CONTAMINATED BY PAST ACTIVITIES AND ACCIDENTS Safety Requirements

Safety Standards Series No. WS-R-3 STI/PUB/1176 (32 pp.; 2003)

ISBN 92-0-112303-5 Price: €15.00

MANAGEMENT OF WASTE FROM THE USE OF RADIOACTIVE MATERIAL IN MEDICINE, INDUSTRY, AGRICULTURE, RESEARCH AND EDUCATION

#### Safety Standards Series No. WS-R-4 STI/PUB/1231 (68 pp.; 2006) ISBN 92-0-105705-9 Price: €18.00

Safety Requirements Safety Standards Series No. WS-R-5 STI/PUB/1274 (36 pp.; 2006)

DECOMMISSIONING OF FACILITIES USING RADIOACTIVE MATERIAL

**GEOLOGICAL DISPOSAL OF RADIOACTIVE WASTE** 

Price: €25.00

Price: €20.00

Price: €17.50

Price: €16.50



# RELATED PUBLICATIONS



ISBN 92-0-110906-7

**Safety Requirements** 

# Safety through international standards

"The IAEA's standards have become a key element of the global safety regime for the beneficial uses of nuclear and radiation related technologies.

"IAEA safety standards are being applied in nuclear power generation as well as in medicine, industry, agriculture, research and education to ensure the proper protection of people and the environment."

> Mohamed ElBaradei IAEA Director General

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY VIENNA ISBN 92-0-106706-2 ISSN 1020-525X